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B: Hr. Hattenberg, we ' . .;'2.re talk.ing last time about the group of you who 

\.,rere preparing late in IJ67 for w'hat you thought was going to be the 

1963 campaign. One qu;:;':; rion I have--Hhen you were doing that prelim-

inary planning, did th~ Tle;c;tion of whether or not the President could 

travel corne up? You r:'.2~1;:joned earlier that in 1966 he had run into 

just a few demonS::'?:"2tor::>. Obviously, by 1967/68, that 'vas going to be--

W: Right. I kno'J at one ~'J>:.ting He ,,,ere in, a meeting of HTiters--this 

must have been early '62--he went around the table asking suggestions 

as to what he ought to be doing. Somebody brought up that he ought 

to go out and confront the demonstrators if necessary, but go out and 

press the flesh. And his feeling was [this]. I know he quoted John 

Connally and I think he may have mentioned Humphrey, also. I know 

Humphrey's people have substantiated this idea, which is that when a 

politician gets hOIJr:dr.:d by cC:Jlonstrators, it dredges up a huge sympathy 

vote. Connally had tol'l the Pr2sident--this is ""hat the President told 

us--that every tiDe ~e g~ts confronted by demonstrators his poll goes 

up by ten points. Tne l'p-,sident was well m.,rare of this. 

But our feeling ·,7a3 that his feeling was this would just demean 

the office of the pre-:;td..::"cy. It's remarkable, you know, he has not yet 

to this day been really fl<:ci<.led in such a "my that it would demean the 

office. There have beE:1 ~o~e pickets outside of halls, so he has 

arranged his app2aran=~~. Hut he hasn't gone out in 'pre-arranged 
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parade routes and thin;~'j like that. That has stopped! But he has 

traveled all over the; C f )'l:1.try, and he has addressed groups all over 

the country. But he haven't one the going out on announced pre-

arranged press tours) a:, ',{<::" did on that tour I told you about--those 

series of tours in '66. I think, to my recollection, that was the 

last time we did it. 

B: I ;·i3.S going to say, SiDt:'! then he has gone out, but he has gone to 

air bases or closed audLtoriuIDs, places where presumably there has 

bee.n some security agaln-;t demonstrators. 

2 

W: Yes, and he has gone out largely unannounced, much to the dismay of 

the press who som~hQT." r'!'..:13 that their plans for an eveiling, w"hen 

they're r-u..ptured, ShO·,1 tl,at the President is a nasty man or something. 

B: Did you get the imprC3',"J r)t1 there in early 1968 that the President 

felt--to use the phrase that was later used--like a prisoner of the 

Wrtite. Rouse? 

W: I never had that feelin;;, but I ,vasn' t around the PresiG.ent personally 

a lot where I would h'':':;.lr .Just what he was saying. I just don't knmv. 

I knmv when we were planning things for him, sending up ideas--"You 

ought to do this, you ought to do that"--you did not get the feeling 

that he was a prisoner. The only thing that he seemed to have ruled 

out--and even then there were  a number of occasions that we continued 

to suggest certain things. I know I had sent up something that 

suggested he go out--and I know other people had--on a walking-style 

tour, I think of the g);;;tto area the \vay Lindsay had done. He could 

even do this unannounc~~. So, in other words, it wasn't so curtailed 

that even "\Je stopped tfd,Jd ng about it. I mean, there \vas ahvays 

recidivity as far as 1: }-n~"i, so I don't think he had imprisoned himself 
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in hi~-' mvumind to the VL ;It that h~ didn I t want to hear any iideas. 

And GI-S I say, if you 100'::: at the calendar, he did a lot of 

traveling. He did visit places. 

B: Your planning must have ta~en into accounting a possible opponent 

in the 1968 election. W-l() ',-Jere you counting on? 

H: 1\1ell, there ~.;as a lot of t::d.k early as to--I remember asking Scammon, 

"Oughtn't the President to decide at least in his own mind whether 

he ,-?ants to run against l',(,::m.ey or Nixon; and having decided that, 

'veIl, then there ,,,ere cc:rt:J.in things he could do to make it surer 

that he would. run agains t '):'1E: rather than the other. II And Scarrrrnon r s 

counsel to me was, and I think it ,,,as very valid retrospectively, 

and I suspect I e~en knew ~t as I asked it, was, '~ou just can't 

get that cute in ?olitic3." Because then there's a feedback. They 

saw, "Well, he's trying to help so-and-so, therefore we Republicans 

ought to just vote for thr.: Dther." And it really isn't anything 

that I think that a Presi,:r;nt could do that wouldn't get so arcane 

and a reverse psyche (?)--

B: Did you ever get any iF!pr2~j3ion of ,.;hom he would have preferred to 

run against? 

W: Our general feeling, as I rr;call, Nas that Romney would be difficult. 

This was before Romney saL'] that he had been brainwashed and before 

he ca.!le out looking like a {,;ocidamned fool. But originally, you knNl, 

Romney was sort of a "Mr. Clean," and he could run on that high 

moral plateau and call Lyndon Johnson a politician and stuff like 

that. But it became kind ()f obvious that Romney ,vas a Spiro Agnew 

in disguise, and was not :>'Icn a good candidate. At that point I 

think the general feeljn~~ ;.12.3 that he'd rather run against Nixon than 
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against l;'ockefeller, the phrase beir..g that Nixon was a loser. I 

think the results in this election proved just that--that this guy 

had so much going for bim that even he could win. That ,vas the 

feeling that I got becauc;e he ran a bad campaign in terms of per-

sonality. He came across, I think, very, very poorly. 

B: Was all this planning i~oing on right up till Hu.rch 31, 1968? 

4 

W: I would be very wrong to say that there was plannil:g going on. One of 

the things that was just catastrophic, and I only smv a small piece of 

it, Larry O'Brien was supposedly involved in it anJ John Bailey and 

John Cris':vell, and Valenti "las in on it. Everybody was trying to do--

I forget \.;ho ~vas running the New Hampshire campaign, but you know, it 

\,Tas highly disorganized. The candidate, the potential candidate, the 

President, didn T t go anJ'ilh'~re. 

I rerr:cIlloer sitting once in Cater's office. Cater and I, we ,vere 

planning up so~e kind of a scheme of so~e political something or other, 

and the big gag that "FJ.:; running--you ~:now, nobody knmvs what's going 

on. I didn't knmv what's go::ng on, of course. Cater didn't knmv \vhat' s 

going on, and he's at le:ast a step up above me. And he called Valenti 

about something. Cris',,!?ll Has almost an impossible man to get a return 

phone call from. He Vla:l sort of doing some of the coordination on this. 

I remember Cater calling Vale.nti and asking something. Valenti didn't 

know T,.;hat \.:as going on, and he was ah;a.ys regarded as the right-hand man 

of the President, and h~ Hasn't getting his phone calls returned by 

Cris~vell. And I don't think O'Brien really knew what ,vas going on. 

I suspect that the thing ",as very IIluch--you kno,v, that nobody really 

kne\V what was going on. It was terribly disorganized. I kno;;.;r Scammon 

was up in l~e\v BaI:lpshin~ and reported back that he's never seen a \Vorse 

campaign in his life than the one for Johnson. 
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Just to give YOll :),,1 (;%amplc that we were indeed in the dark 

about this, that he v::';":; not planning to run·, just I guess two- three 

days before-- I have a ;';":') on it-- it must be the 27th or 28th of 

l-larch--the heat again3t ,hhnson was getting very, very hot indeed. 

You know, Kennedy and ;'>J,iirthy were both on his tail. Cater and I 

and McPherson and Liz C~~p~nter and Bess Abell and Ervin Duggan--

that's about all I can re:r:cmber right nOW--'tVe met with the idea of 

getting up a full-pagfo ;;.r} in the Ne~v York Times with a big headline 

on it saying, "He're ;~(;hj;'ld You, Mr. President," kind of thing. 

This was Hhen the heat ')~l Vietnam and on Johnson personally \vas 

really~-probably it cn.~-;;::.(~d right around there. 

B: That group you just Q~nti0ned wasn't going to sign the ad, was it? 

H: No. '\\fhat VIC did ,'las pl~::' dO',m a list of the people \vho WE'. had been 

dealing with-- intell(oct-;al.s, scientists--because every day saw 

another ad, "S c ientis U; frJr McCarthy, II I'Theatre Arts People for 

Bobby Kennedy," and the; lists 'Here getting very impressive. You 

kind of had the feelini~ t~!.:::.t there 'vasn' t anybody in America who was 

still for Lyndon Johnsr):"l, .:lnd he was at that time regarded as an 

active candidate. l\.;-lrl (;-::;cy tir.'lE'. somebody came out for McCarthy 

and Kennedy, th«.t vrlS F,;~:.!rded as a blow to Johnson. So we worked 

up a list, and a damned impressive list it was, of people who we 

felt would go along ,.1:.Lh :;'--,el! a thing, and sent it up to the President. 

Cater sent it up. ~k 'd~'C; almost prepared to go ahead and have 

somebody do it on th(~ir ',-,,;<-- just get Mr. X or somebody up in Ne'\v 

York, ,Arthur Krirn or 3(r"'J~1(:o, to put together--you lenm", we would 

make the calls for the.:;::, hIlt they could just do it without even asking 

the Pre sident. But Cat',r f(; It I guess that the President ought to 

know Hh~lt ~·)2.5 goinZ on, {,Fd he just said, ItHold off, don't do anything 
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on it." We were very miffed, I remember. But he said, "Don't do 

anything, We didn't do anything on it. But we already had a list 

all made out and there is a memo on it. So apparently by then, he 

was already figuring that he was going to not run. 

And 1 know there were a number of other small projects which 

were, for one reason or another, kind of delayed; never really 

became active. I know I had suggested, I sent up a memo--there 

6 

was in the '64 campaign- -Myer Feldman had a group that used to meet 

three times a week called the "5 O'Clock Club" or something, which 

was sort of the dirty tricks division--you may have heard about 

it, the who1e political thing--to think of ways to get the other 

candidate in trouble, and you know, to do little funny things. 

B: A very effective group,  as I recall. 

W: Well, I don't knmv. In '64 everything was effective. I guess 

they're the ones that set up the "Truth Squad," running behind 

Goldwater. That kind of  thing-- sort of a department of dirty 

tricks, a very quiet group. So I sent up to the President a suggestion. 

We worked out another 1. i,,; t of about five or six people that we 

thought ought to start 7,eeting right 8;'laY, and Cater and I were going 

to do it. Valenti was ~oing to be on it, and three or four other 

people that we were g~£n~ to start with, and then let it grow. Start 

working up some dirty tricks against candidates both in our party and 

Republicans, you know. I sent that up to the PreSident, and the 

first word I had bac~ .from Jim Jones, as I recall, was, "Well, we'll 

see. lIang on." Then I wanted a couple of weeks and sent it up 

again; and the:t I got ·,lord back, "Yes, fine, draw up a list of who 

you I re going to have; 0:'1 1 t. " In other words, I had memoed to the 
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President, and Jone'3 s;.d.ir.:ri me back--or Watson called me back and 

said, "Draw up a list." 

Then I drew up a Jj'.;t 'tlith Cater's guidance and brought it 

7 

over to Jim, and just ';'Jetting happened. I suspect that \vas probably 

also middle March, 1 <:.t!; !1.cl.rch--I could probably check it for you. 

E: At that time was tben; ;J.flj division among the \.Jhite House staff about 

the primary campaigns ;~~) i ng on? 

H: I den't kno,,] if therto ',I~J.~J division. You know, the feeling was that 

we were running a verj ':j 'J~rganized--if indeed lye \vere in a campaign, 

it was a he 11 of a eli ',r)c;~:.:.nized campaign. And nobody really knew 

which end was up and what was going on. There was some dismay about 

it, and the heat was getting very hot. 

My whole reaction on the March 31st thing was--after I was here 

for avhile, four or five months, six months, I came to regard what 

I was doing here as very much sort of a training period for the 

'68 campaign because of the nature of things that I was doing. The 

President had the ideas, I think, that I was a good political speech 

writer. I kept getting back soundings from other people that the 

P'resident had said, I!:~j Cod, Hattenberg can really--he' s the only 

guy around here \\7ho C,'j.:J rc~ally write a good political speech. II And 

we had written some r~~l sut-and-slash kind of tough speeches in 

the '66 campaign that ii<; liked very much. He used to go around saying, 

flBoy, that Hattenber,;, I!'.: really hates Republicans!" That was good~ 

so I kind of figured t;.;;.t I "las going to end up. 

Then I had gott8n i[~ulvcd in writing a lot of this humorous 

stuff which also is a ~~::(;;:it political tool. He I s a good humorist 

",hen he's prepared "lit-;, ~lOi:1C good material. So I kind of had the 
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feeling that we ,-7ere r(;:;.Uy going to do a big campaign, that he ,vas 

going to go out over a p(ori.od of months or certainly weeks and take 

his case to the American p<.;op Ie. He thought it ,vas a legitimate case 

that he was not getting ~cross to the people, that was not getting 

across, because all of t:~le attention was going to McCarthy and to 

Bobby at that time, and to the Republicans; and that the case was 

not being made, and th:.lf: 'Ir::. would really go out and make this case. 

I kind of felt that onc(; the thing got into a political phase that 

I would be v2ry useful. So I was sort of a little crestfallen when 

it came, becaus.:; the thi ni; that I ,ilas regarding myself as--you 

knmv, I had done a COl:?JJ.: of speeches for John Bailey, and I had 

been doing some minir:;2l li.aison work ,-lith the Democratic National 

Committee trying to stay. And there were a few other people who were 

doing it. Roche was doing it, and I guess McPherson in a different 

way was doing it. We were all trying to get useful for the '68 

campaign. I felt that this would be right up my alley. Of course 

it never came about. so I was kind of--

B: After the withdrawal on March 31st, did you or any of the other 

White House staff people lend yourself to any of the other Democratic 

contenders? 

'hi: Yes. First of all, I think it was exclusively for Humphrey, all the 

people on the White House staff. I know the night that Johnson said 

he wasn't going to run, ~:::J .".,ife was jumping up and dm .. n that I should 

call Ted Van Dyke in the 'lice President's staff and say, you know, 

"I volunteer. Ivhat shC!l~ld I do'!" kind of thing. I think that probably 

was the reaction of many p2ople. 

I then started--in fact, I even sat in on a couple of the meetings 

of the Vice P:reside!:1t I s :~F~ech Hriting team, which Willard Wirtz 
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,vas running then, also, a very hush-hush kind of a thing. Planning 

out ways and means and that kind of thing and actually wrote out a 

fe,v speeches. 

H: Let me interrupt you. HW:lh--hush and incognito, but surely with 

Mr. Johnson's knowledge and approval? 

B: I don't know about that. You know, Wirtz would know and Johnson 

would knmv. I don t t know whether Wirtz formally told the President 

or not. It was supposed to be hushed up. The President's stance 

w:?\.s that he Has not going to be partisan and he didn't want the White 

House staff being partisan. 

In any e.vent, ./hat I "las going to say .las after a \vhi1e, after a 

month or so, there was apparently enough talk and it was obvious 

enough to the President, I guess, that a lot of people were doing 

,~ork for Humphrey. I kno~..J I got a call from McPherson to stop, ;3.nd 

9 

I said, lfS top getting caught, or just stop?" He kind of fudged, "Stop," 

hut the inflection vac3, you knmv, if it's going to be the vmy .•• 

After all, writing a speer.:h you can really "rite on your mm time 

and there's no danger of your getting caught if you're circumspect. 

But from that time it tben became apparent that the Boss wanted us to 

stop and \,e stopped prctty much. I know I kept doing some humor for 

t:h.e Vice President every once in a "~chile, but that's a pretty minimal 

thing. We'd try to hc:lp him whatever "lay we could, but for a while 

I was actually appearing on the Vice President's speech calendar--you 

know, Wattenberg is doln{~ this 3?2cCi.1 and Duggan is doing this speech. 

And that kind of tapered off because the President didn't want it done. 

And it wasn't only that. Humphrey was then facing this problem of 

"Is he his min man or no t?" 
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and the worst story th::Lt could have come out is that "Johnson's 

staff is Humphrey's staff. Lyndon Johnson is really pulling the 

strings in the Humphrcy campaign down to the extent of having his 

speech \vriters working for him." So I felt that it just kind of 

phased out. I did what~vcr small things could be helpful to the 

Vice President, passed ::Llong some ideas, suggestions, but got out 

of the mainstream of it. 

B: Aft€r the convention, y01.! mean, during the campaign itself, or--? 

H: Oh, no, this "las before the convention. 

B: Hmo; about then <'.fter the convention? 

10 

1<7: After the convention the President-- you see, prior to the convention 

the President didn't even endorse Humphrey. This was a Democratic 

primary, Presidents don't get into primary fights. So there was at 

least the veneer of a nonpartisan stance by the White House and by 

the President. 

After the convention this began to change. Of course, the 

President endorsed Hurr:phrey; and once the President could endorse 

Humphrey, it could beco;;,c: much more apparent that White House people 

were· Horking on it. Thf;re vIas no phone call saying, "Yes, you can 

nOH go to work for lIuFiphrey, If but I thin..k almos t everybody-- I know I 

thet). 'was starting trJ ',lr Lte some speeches for the Vice President; 

feed him ideas; meet with the people. And many people in the White 

House did this. 

B: What was your opinion of the Humphrey campaign? 

H: It was also terribly disorganized from what I saw--a terribly disorganized 

thing--in the early part of it; and just very, very poorly run. I 

don' t think anybody has yet figured out how come there was no real 
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planning done in advance. He knew from April on--he had a pretty 

good guess; the smart people felt, even with Bobby Kennedy running, 

that Humphrey was going to be the nominee. Why they didn't have some 

money ready for right after that and some immediate firm plans 

scheduled--and this is when he got hurt very badly. So the Humphrey 

campaign was not so good. Ultimately the ,.;rriters they had there 

were pretty gqod, or they ",ere getting better; I know John Barlow 

Martin was working with him for awhile. I used to go up to their 

headquarters on L Street and Connecticut Avenue, wherever it was; 

and they had some pretty able guys there. 

B: Did it improve as time went on? 

W: Yes, it definitely improved as time went on. 

B: Did the involvement of the White House staff increase toward the 

last? 

W: I think so. Oh yes, it did intensively tmvard the last couple of 

weeks. We all felt our major contribution. But by that time my 

m·m feeling and I kno';] the! feeling of other people around here was. 

that their major contri')ution to the Humphrey campaign ~·muld be to 

get Johnson to do the ri~jht things in the Humphrey campaign, because 

VIC wanted him to go out 2.nd help. It ~,'as a delicate period for 

awhile. Like early in the campaign after the convention, that there 

was sort of a--1 know Maguire for example felt that the President 

ought to go out and talk for Humphrey as frequently and as loudly 

as possible. And I didn't disagree with it, but I know that I 

didn't fully agree with it. I just didn't get quite that enthusiastic, 

because at that time the Vice President still had this, you know, 

"is he his own man, or is he Johnson's puppet" kind of thing; and 
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somehm.;r felt that maybe the worst thing that the President could 

do ,.;ras go out and really lay hands on overly hard. And he didn f t 

do much of it. 

12 

I sent the memo up to the President saying that the best thing 

Johnson can do for Humphrey is to make Johnson look good, that this 

would then reduce the albatross factor, because there was an albatross 

factor on Humphrey about Johnson. I know that the memo I sent up 

said that he had given this one first speech--the first real political 

speech to the ILGWU [International Ladies Garment l~orkers Union] --a 

taped speech which was then--it was a radio speech and television 

picked it up. And he hit pretty hard about Nixon; he said Nixon 

was the one who voted against Medicare; and Nixon ,.;ras the one who 

did-- I think Naguire did the speech. My memo said that that \~as 

fine, but that the follmving day, as it happened, there were some 

very beautiful pictures released of the President walking with his 

grandson on the South Lm.;rn. My remark was that in terms of helping 

Humphrey, there was more of a net gain by him being seen in a 

congenial pose with little Lyn than there ,.;ras in giving this speech, 

even though it was covered; that by making he, Johnson, look good he 

was helping Humphrey in the best way that he could, by undercutting 

the Republican line which was, 'rwcll, Humphrey and Johnson--you know, 

boy, wasn't that terrible. He ,.;ras the guy ,.;rho supported Lyndon 

Johnson." So if you could build up the President-- and I proposed 

in this thing a series of ideas, of photographs and certain kinds of 

tours that would not be intensely political but would go out and 

show an example of some of the Grea~ Society programs and then finally 

reaching Q crescendo with specific political personal endorsements 
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of Humphrey. He liked this idea very much, I gathered. They were 

giving a farewell party for Cater at the State Department, and Jones 

called me here and said the President wanted to meet with me about 

this memo. But I wasn't here. Barbara, my good friend here, ,vas 

here, and Barbara said I was at this party which many people had 

been invited to, and I think Jones finally shmved there. I don't 

know. Apparently the President said, "If Ben is around, let him come 

in and we'll talk about this memo," and I vlasn' t around; and Jones 

said, "Well, don't bother calling him, just forget about it." 

Apparently the next day Jones and the President had discussed the 

memo then, and set some of these things in motion. Of course, I 

was once again heart-broken. I really would have loved to have sat 

down ';vith him and suggested a number of-- follo,o7 through on these 

ideas, but it didn't work out that way. I then got very angry at 

Barbara for not calling me over at the State Department, because I 

would have run right over. 

B: You never did get a chance to discuss it with him directly? 

VI: Not directly. But Jim told me that he did sit dmvn with my memo 

and went through it point by point. There were some relatively 

obvious points based on the central theme that he ought to go out 

and make himself look good. After that, I don't knmv if it was 

coincidence or not, but there were a number of flattering kinds of 

pictures and situations that began to come up. He did end up--Johnson--

looking pretty good during the campaign, was my feeling. 

Then toward the last week or ten days, we were then specifically 

suggesting occasions and writing political speeches. The President 

finally did make one weekend swing where he went to Pikesville and 
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Horgantown, \.Jest Vir;~i [l i.a., and then the next day up to New York 

City. He made a series of three- four very good speeches that didn't 

get massive coverage, partly because they weren't advanced to the 

press because he was still making these things quickly. But I 

wrote the Morgantown speech which I thought was a pretty good 

speech. I think McPherson did the one that was up the next day in 

New York, and it was a very good speech. Maguire was increasingly 

active in this political operation. I think he did the tape of the 

final, the one that was taped for the Sunday before the end of the 

campaign about Humphrey personally. He finally did get off the 

dime--Johnson--and did a real political effort. But, of course, this 

was the whole time that the bombing thing was going on, and it 

became apparent that it was going on. It was very much in the 

news, and he was not criticized for not going out so much for 

Humphrey, because it was clear what was going on. Of course, the 

greatest thing that he could have done for Humphrey was just what 

he did, is get the b-;;<)ln;; pause before the election. I know I 

'.Jas questioned-- I gm:ss '.)(! m",t ,"ith SOQe German politicians the day 

after the election, or tile day after the bombing halt, and they 

couldn't believe that Uli.s vlasn't politically motivated. 

B: There were a lot of ?~~?]~ that couldn't believe it. 

H: There were a lot of P2');>JC. I cannot believe, just knm~ing how this 

man operates, that t~c~~ was anything political about it~ r'm sure 

he would have prefern:d lo have it before the election, but he ,vas 

going to do ,,,hat he hi:~:l to do. The general feeling you get, and 

I haven't wo:ked with ~~D that closely personally, but the general 

feeling you get aroc:nJ L':rro' is that he's a guy I.]ho does I.]hat's right; 
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what he thinks is right. He isn't ahoJays right, but he does ,\That 

he thinks is right. And you knmoJ the old cliche that he uses again 

and again ~ilas that ",hen he first ca::-:e into office, somebody came up 

and they said, "I kno'w you I re going to do what's right, Mr. President. II 

And his response was, "Yes, of course, I'm going to do what's right, 

but the hard thing is not to do what's right, but to figure out 

what's right." And you know that's really the story of his Presidency. 

I think that's probably how most Presidents operate, and that's why 

I come away from here with a very high opinion of Johnson, sure, 

but a very, very high opinion of how the Presidency works. The 

feeling is, in my lifetime anyway, all the Presidents we've had 

have really opera~ed und~r that basic principle of, let's figure 

out Hhat's right. These aren't devious, political men trying to 

scrape up an extra point in their popularity poll. 

B: To back up in tise a li ttl<.:, ,-lhat were the circumstances or Bill 

Moyers' departure from tit(; President's staff? 

W: Well, I don't knm;r. I think I mentioned to you--I think I wasn't 

here more than a fe T
,] days ",hen Moyers told me "in strict confidence" 

that he was flying up the; next day to Hamilton College; that they 

were interested in getting his as their president. As it h~ppened 

I \.;rent to school in upstate Net;r Yor~~ at Hobart and had mentioned 

that to him, and he ,.]a.ntcci to knm;r ;.;hat kind of country it was and 

everything else. 'I~en pcriodically he would be mentioning--talking 

about--this is placing it in tiree, ciddle August, as far as I know, 

that he ",as already looking. And then I think he mentioned--

B: Hiddle August of--

W: '66, yes. I kno", he r;-:cntiCJned this :iewsday thing to me, I think, during 
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the Asian trip) that he was thinking about it. Of course, his 

brother died around that time, and I think that was the thing that 

put him over the edge on it· He definitely had to leayefor financial 

reasons as we 11. I think he ,vas planning to leave before that 

anyway. as I recall it, but that kind of put him over the top. 

Then there \-JaS a series of very unfortunate stories that came out 

when he left which really shows something strange about the press 

as far as I'm concerned. You know, the basic gist of the stories 

was; "here was Bill Moyers, this wonderful, wonderful, humorous, 

alert, intelligent, humane, young man who happened to be warking 

for the biggest son-of-a-bitch in the \"estern world, Lyndon Johnson"--

poor Bill Moyers kind of thing. And I gather that this enraged the 

President. I think if I were President it \vould have enraged me also. 

And l<loyers understood this, I think, and ,vas distressed by it. 

B: The news stories enraged the President. 

W: Yes. So I gathered. I've discussed this with Moyers since as a 

matter of fact. McNama~a got the same kind of treatment later on, 

'here was McNamara 'the dove'; and Johnson was 'the ha\vk, r and McNamara 

w<~s this wonderful man who had revitalized the Defense Department 

and wanted to deescalate and was all these wonderful, brilliant, 

computer-like, smart, wisdom incarnate kind of a man who happened to 

be cast by the fates to work for this nasty, nasty butcher in the 

White House!" And again I think the President was somewhat turned 

off, although not as badly as with Moyers. 

B: Did the President tend to take out his rage with the press on the 

individual involved? 

W: Yes, I think in Moyers' instance he did. It got very cold around Bill 
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Moyers that last coupl(~ of weeks he was here, or after the a~Douncement 

vlas made. But what I [;tarted to say is that the absurd thing about the 

'.vay the press handled that is, it seemed to me, ahvays that the really 

interesting [thing]--lHll Moyers is a very bright guy, he's a ~ej~y nice 

guy, I worked well with him, I like him, I respect him, but there are 

a lot of bright guys in /,merica, a lot of bright young guys--the fas-

cinating thing about that ",hole relationship was not that Bill Moyers 

was a bright young guy because there are a lot of bright young guys. 

lIe's a particularly abl,..: and bright guy. The amazing thing was that 

the President of the United States would take a t1;venty-nine year old 

bright guy a..Tld invest htI:l with enough clout that he could be called 

legitimately the number.-t'"O man in government. That is the amazing 

pa;:t of the story--that a guy would recognize that kind of ability 

in a guy that young and really give him the tools to do something 

~rith it. And I think Jljoyers execu::ed pretty damned well. Of course, 

the press completely misr~ed that. [Art] Buchwald. finally did a funny 

column on it, about ho'" Bill }foyers went around ,vhen he was a yo(mg 

man trying to find a good President to work for, and he finally picked 

on Lyndon Johnson. You kno'N, he ot:ght to make this man President so 

he could be at his right hand. But this was a spoof. There ''lere 

people. who said ''lhen HOyE-.rs lef t this place jus t wouldn't function 

\'lithout Bill Moyers. Of course, the guy who makes this place function 

is Lyndon Johnson, and ahiil/3 had, even ''lith Moyers here as far as I 

know. And this is not to den:1_grate his role because it vJaS a very 

powerful and very important one. 

Anyr.'lay, it IS funny-- I had to come dO\vn. I had never met 
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Moyers before coming down here, and I worked for hin and worked 

sort of well ,-lith him. And just when he was leaving, my sort of 

consultancy period was up. I was working as a consultant on a per 

diem rate, and I had to decide whether I was going to stay on as a 

staff man of one sort of another, or go back to Connecticut and just 

say, well, I had workul fm: the campaign. By that time I was kind of 

intrigued by life douTJ. here. I ,,,anted to stay on, and told this to 

lUll, and he thought t:J<lt that was a good idea. He told me he sent 

in a memo to the President saying that he, the President, should make 

me a special assistant. In other words, Moyers was leaving and I 

guess he "ras trying to Crj'ler for the President the hole that he ,.;auld 

be leaving in terms of the speech thing. That at least is ,,,hat he 

told me.. Moyers had a 'iT[lY of sometime exaggerating things and talking 

a little bigger than the facts Here, but that in any event is vlhat 

he told me. 

The memo came back from the President to Boyers. So }foyers 

told me, "He says 'take it up with Kintner," which is like the kiss 

of death, because if I was going to go any place in the White House, 

it certainly wasn't going to be through Kintner. Then I sort of got 

word around the White House that the President regarded me as a 

Moyers [man]. I was on Cater's staff at the time, and Cater wanted 

me to stay on. I think he wrote a nice note to the President about 

me saying that I ought to be put on. And I think the word sort of 

was around that the President regarded me as a Moyers man, and that 

this was kind of jeopardizing my position. Because I wasn't really 

on the White House [staff]. I had been a consultant, and I was on 

staff, but I wasn't on full-time payroll and now I wanted to stay on. 

Ultimately I think Cater and McPherson and I don't know who. . . Then 
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Moyers left and--Ilm JWJt 'dondering when I got the final word. I 

guess I was in Ne\\l' York ;md I called dO\\l'n to Cater--it was over the 

Christmas holiday of 'F)I)--that yes, I was to be on staff full-time, 

and they I d settled on ;" 3alary level and therefore it \\I'ould be 

all right. 

B: Not technically as a sp0cial assistant? 

W: No. That was just sort of forgotten about. It wasn't forgotten 

about, I think. I forg(;t just exactly how it worked. It I S valuable 

here not because it means more money or because it puts you over 

anybody necessarily, but certain things like--you know, it is good 

to have a Presidential appointment and a title if you can get it. 

Some guys do a lot of very important work without it. Some guys 

don't do very much with it. But it's still very desirable to have, 

was my feeling. It did not work out that way. There was for awhile 

some resistance on the Pre:sident's part--that he regarded me as 

quote a Moyers man. I think Cater ultimately pointed out to him 

that I had never known Moyers  until I came down here. Sure, I 

worked well with him, I liked him-- I still do; but you knolv, I 

was a Johnson man, not a Moyers man. Again, this was the absurd 

kind of thing. Here was a guy who was thirty-three years old who 

was completely, as any assistant is, a creature of the Presidency; 

and yet people splitting him up into--that he was on Moyers side 

or he was on the President's side. And Moyers understood very well 

that he was a creature of the Presidency and of the President. I 

don't think he ever foolc.:rl himself that he wasn't. I think this is 

one of the reasons , ... hy i-I(: ,,,anted to leave, for the same reason that 

a lot of people want to If:ave--you want to set up an independent 

identity. 
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E: Did Moyers ever express ::?ny resentment about this coolness that 

developed between him and the President there at the time of his 

leaving? 

\v: Again, resentment is a tc:n:; that applies to equals. Moyers, you 

know, didn't resent the Pr~3ident of the United States, he was 

hurt by it, he was upset 1)y it. But I never had the feeling that 

this was a relationship of equals. So resent is the wrong word. 

I think he ~..;ras hurt by it. The President, he felt, was sort of 

bad-mouthing him. He had heard reports back--as you do here, 
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when the President is on you--you don't necessarily get it firsthand, 

but that he had been saying some bad things about Bill. It had 

come back to him from var LO'.lS sources-- had called him and told him 

that the President said X and the President said Y. 

One of the stories that was floating around \Vas the President 

had apparently told SOTI'.E:~ody, which I think is valid, that Bill 

went down to the ranch and they had a long two-hour conversation down 

on the banks of the river there. So the President said Bill ,-las 

just hinting in every "lay that the President should ask him to 

stay on. And the President wasn't about to--you kno,v, this ,..;ras 

the President's way of saying that he was canned, not that he left 

on his own. But my feeling is that he did leave on his own, that 

there was some ill will certainly that came out at that time. It's 

a matter of record that Moyers was not invited to Lynda's wedding, 

for example, and I think every other important assistant 'vas. So 

there was a cooling. 

E: Does that still continue? ~fuat's their relationship now? 

W: I don't know. I think it co~tinues essentially. I mean, it has 
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probably eased off a little bit. Although I know that shortly after 

Moyers left, he was still commuting back and fo:cth from Long Island 

to Washington. He hnd his home here in Washington. He had a little 

dinner party at his house where I think Shriver, who was his old 

boss, and Johnson, who was his most recent boss, and his new boss, 

[Captain Harry F. ] Guggenheim [editor-in-chief] Newsday, from 

Ne\o~sday. There was alit tIe dinner party for eight, and the 

President and Mrs. JUlin-jC;n did go out, as I understood. So it 

wasn't as total perh"-in as some people might have thought. 

But again, I don't Yno~. Moyers was sort of under a cloud here. 

There were a number of 'j~j 'Ilho, in the ensuing year or year and a half--

I knOl..r ,..rhen the cauqai.gn came up, the.:ce were a couple of times, first 

of all, the word was out that Moyers v70uld love to come ,york on the 

campaign, and I don't kno',' what ever happened about that. Then there 

were a nu:uber of thin;jCj that he was recommended [for]. Every t:lme a 

good appointment for a ci.tizen board or an appointment to SOUle 

commission or something, ;-foyers' name "\..ras suggested a number of times. 

I know I once suggest(:d it for one thing to Cater, and Cater I knm-l--

:Moyers retained good rr.:lationships "Hith many of us on the White House 

staff. He kind of felt that there were some guys who were his friends 

and some guys \..rho wert: his enemies. Hany of us tried to get him 

back into the good gn:i'':e3 kind of thing. I don't thL:tk it ever 

really '-lor ked . 

And then this wa.a this very unfortunate thing--I don't know 

whether }10yers was rai'~(llloted or not--when he came out on that Humphrey 

thing as if Humphrey kid been a dove all along. I can't believe 
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that Moyers meant that tIl'.! way it came out because it 

came out looking as if ?-:c.Jje:rs Has running the Vice President. It 

just didn't come out ri;~:lt. Bill has more sense than that. I 

don't think that it could have been quite the Hay it sounded. 

B: Did Moyers' departure c.:cU3e on the \fuite House staff any rivalry 

to take the kind of position he had occupied? Is there some sort 

of shifting of pmver lin(: '3 ? 
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W: There was a shifting of prMer, but I don't knmv if it was--you kno>v, 

Califano's troops sort 0f swooped into the substantive area that 

Bill--Califano had already been doing that substantive work. I 

know Larry Levinson had ::;f~ntiolled to me once they knm.J' that \\Then they 

send up a menD to the Pr(:3ident and it doesn't corne back, that it 

was usually sitting on Moyers' desk~ Moyers wasn't there, so it 

stayed--you know, ' ..... ent In-::k to Califano I Hould gather. So some 

of this substantive ,'lOr~: he was doing fell to Califano. Much of 

the speech vlriting and tint· aspect of what he \\Tas doing devolved 

onto McPherson I s shoulder::!, ,·lho I think did it very ably in most 

instancss. And I think iia.rry was closer to the President than he 

had been with Moyers, and I think the President might have started 

going to Harry for the kinds of things he would have gone to Bill 

for. 

B: Did the staff get the i~?re3Sion that the President was deliberately 

trying to avoid setting up another possible number two man? 

W: I don't think that it wa:.; ever that formal a thought on the President's 

part, or on the staff's part. 

B: Is there much rivalry among the various people on the White House staff? 

\\1": I don't know hmv to answer that really. In many ways--
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B: You've got very able and very ambitious young men, most of them with 

good careers still before them, all of them in positions of or close 

to power. 

W: Yes. Well, I think there is, yes. You know, I had ahvays heard 

that Cater may have felt that perhaps he was in rivalry with 

Califano and sort of on the losing end of the substantive argument 

of that, although Cater probably had some personal relationships 

with the President that Califano did not have. Fred Panzer--have 

you interviewed him? Is he on your list? 

B: He is on the list. 

W. You ought to talk to him. He's a good guy. He had a great line. 

People used to ask him what did he do. He'd say, "I'm in business 

for myself." The way this particular White House staff worked--

there was a lot of that--is that you really are in business for 

yourself. You're serving the President, and I guess formally I 
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was on Cater's staff and there were certain things I did for Cater 

a,nd went through Cater on, but I had the ability to \-JTite memos 

directly to the President. This was to me all along one of the--

you k..'"lOW, people say, "~lcll, Johnson wasn't interested in new ideas." 

That was about as bunk a 3tatement. You know, this ,vas a guy who 

swooped upon new ideas, and encouraged people at relatively low 

echelon, certainly vithin the White House staff, to communicate with 

him directly. There vlen~ times when a Cabinet Secretary might say 

one thing and I might send up a memo perhaps not even know·ing that I 

was contradicting a Cabinet Secretary, and he'd go my way. 

I just recall one [jrnall little instance. There was the 200 millionth 

American came in, I guess, November of 1967, and I proposed several 
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plans about half a Y8ar (~arlicr, none of which came to beans. Then 

there \Vas going to be [;. ceremony over at Commerce with the big 

census clock showing 200 million Americans. I thought he ought 

to go because it was a rC;"ll landmark kind of thing, and 'vrote a 

memo to that effect, g:.ljing that there was this one theme--this 

theme of 1976, 200 yean of America, that he could sound off on 

there; and also just the: graphics of it, having the President standing 

in front of the census clock when it actually hit 200 million. 

would guarantee his pre::>'! coverage all over the world. I shmved 

it to Cater; and Cater 3al.d, "Jesus--" he had just heard from 

Willard Wirtz, and Wirtz had been recommending to the President, 

or recommending to hir:J--(~ater, "God, one place the President 

shouldn't go near is trlc ZOO million American thing." Exactly 

why I don't know; part of it is this whole population explosion 

thing. You know, we're: trying to sell other countries that they 

ought to keep their pop'11a.tion dmvn and we might be crmving about 

it. In any event I scmt the: memo up, and the President came right 

back 'vi thin a couple of illJurs saying, IlYes, write the speech, and 

let's see it.lI And he ended up going, and he got very, very good 

coverage on it on televj~lon and the newspapers. 

B: Did you write that speech? 

W: Yes. Where were we? Yes, you really are very much in business for 

yourself; but there is rivalry also. I think this White House staff 

certainly, and probably any White House staff, but this one functions 

like a medieval court. And there's no sense deluding yourself. You're 

personal staff to the President, and your whole position, power, 

clout, role, whatever Y')ll Hant it~ depends on ,vhat the President 
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thinks of you, and what he wants you to do for him. So there is 

some lateral elbowing, sure, and some lateral jealousies and things 

like that, but primarily there are a series of direct relationships, 

or semidirect. Still with Moyers around here, there were a lot of 

stories in the paper about how the White House was split in two 

people. There were conservatives like Marvin Watson and liberals 

like Moyers and McPherson and Cater. And I don't know. I perhaps 

wasn't as tuned in as I ought to have been, but I thought that 

,.;ras an exaggeration. Sure there were guys from different backgrounds, 

and it would be absurd for a President to have a staff all 'of whom 

were liberals or all of ,,,,hom ,,,ere Easteners or all of Hhom "ere 

Texans or all of whom \V'ere whatever, and he didn t t. A guy like 

Watson was not going to have the SMile kind of ideas as a guy like 

Moyers. Because of the nature of our press vehicle, the liberal 

niembers of the staff become the darlings traditionally; and i'latson, 

Valenti got a very, very bad press. I wasn't here with Valenti. 

Watson, you knoH, was not an ogre by any means. He '.Jas an able guy, 

and he did what he was told by the President. He \"asn J t here to be 

imaginative or creative or think of ne" ideas. He was here to be 

appointments secretary and frequently just to be a transmission 

belt to and from the PreSident, which he perfornled very well. You 

always knew where you stood with him, I thought. 

There was a rivalry, I think, between Moyers and Watson at one 

time. 

B: Does this kind of rivalry, not necessarily between Moyers and Watson 

but among the staff generally', really get down to such things 

as size of desk, location of offices, access to automobiles? 
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H: No. Maybe in other agencies. But for exactly the reason that I 

told you here, the only thing that counts is--You know, I can 
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have a little tiny office over in E.O.B., but if the President calls 

me on the phone or senrb stuff down saying, "Ask Wattenberg to do 

such-and-such," or, "H:l'Je Vlattenberg call so-and-so, or something 

like that, then that I S l;/fJrth all the big offices and all the cars, 

and vice versa. I'm not saying that trds happened, but the power 

and the clout depends not on desks or secretaries or office space 

or anything else, but Of! the relations;'ip with the President. 

And there's some logic to that. 

B: Gettir..g back to somethin;~ Vle've touchec on several times, this 

business of writing a gpeech for the President in the sense of 

tailoring it to his spc:cr..:h patterns--H::at he ,.;ants to say and so on. 

How do you go ab01,lt doin;~ that? 

Ii: It kind of COlleS naturally after awhile. The basic idea is to Ylrite 

decent, declarative English sentences; and decent, intelligent, 

declarative, simple Er_/~lish sentences can usually be read by anyone. 

B: Do you get specific in';trllctions on things like "keep it short?!' 

H: Yes. He had a number uf neetings with us where he went on and on 

about what he wanted ",<lC:r!.:. 400 "lOrd speeches, four-letter words, 

four-,.;rord sentences, four-paragraphs. I don't know, a whole song- and-dance 

about hO\-7 that he Has a '/ery simple. earthy man, and you knmv, that 

TJincoln's speeches werr.: ,;imple and everybody's speeches--And he had 

this columnist named Hf.:rr), 'H. E. Fost.er) in the Houston Chronicle 

when he gre"w up. He WHj ':luch a simple Ulan; and he got Kintner to 

xerox some of HeFo t S C()!.lmns as to ho,,/ simple they were. Then he 

used to go on about four-word sentences four-paragraphs--
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B: The columnist's name ',Ja::i 11.E. Foster, and he ,'laS called HeFo? 

W: Yes. But of course the Pn:"~ident, despite the fact that he may have 

thought or said he thou:;fit--I don't think that he thought so, but said 

he thought that he was j '13 t this plain, simple, old Texas farmer. You 

&'10\", he was about as plcdn and simple a Texas farmer as I am. This is 

a complicated, highly artIculate man. To write for him in four letter 

words and four sentence yOll know, whatever would be wrong. There were 

some people here, a coup h! 0 f the writers, Sparks, perhaps Hardes ty , 

who thought you ought to "put it in Pedernales" which I thought, coming 

from a guy like Sparks, ',l:}:> about as condescending and patronizing to a 

man like Lyndon Johnson a3 could possibly be. This was a man admittedly 

,,,ho couldn I t and shouldn I t :;peak in this orotund Kennedy rhetoric or 

Stevensonian kind of pr03~ of long sentences. You know, he couldn't 

quote Aeschylus a,"d he shouldn't quote Sophocles, because it was obvious 

that somebody -"rould be. doing it for him. That's not his style. 

But this was a th(J1J~~htful man and a profound man in his WJ.y. I 

finally once did up a 10:-ll:; memo for him after I had been here--this was 

right a:.:-ound the Ne~{ Ye2r) ~royers was still here. I did a long, long 

speech memo telling him ,,,hat I thought about the whole speech process 

and disagreeing with so=>~ of these--',.,ent to the instance of counting up 

th.e nunber of ,yards tna::';; in these ~!eFo columns, how many ,vords per 

sentence. Of course, t:-12U: were fourteen or fifteen w·)rds per sentence--

not four words. You kncN) he aholays used to talk about the. Gettysburg 

Address--simple, short. ~;d.l, the first sentence of the Gettysburg 

Address is something Ii;:,:: :;ixty-three ,;,;ords or something like that. I 

forget what it was. And I had this long speech memo which I then sent 

in to Moyers. It was adrlr{:~-;sed to the President, but I wanted Moyers' 
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reaction. }foyers, I think, suggested that I write it. And then he 

gave me counsel not to ~;E::ncl it in, because it was kind of a sharp memo 

saying that the President was wrong about that and \\Trong about this. 

And I ended up, in that instance, not getting it sent up. 

But, in any event, '-7 feeling Has that this was an intelligent, 

articulate man. If you listened to him talk, you could see that he 

waSil I t any Palooka talking four letter '.lOrds. He deserved as good 

\\Triting as you could get, T .... ithin certain strictures. You know, you 

weren't going to do things that \>lere wholly foreign to his background 

and to his style. 

B: Can you give an exallple of that? 

W: Well, I once quoted [EEot] when the Chancellor of Austria came. It 

'\Tas in April, it \lUS right after the riots. I \>las doing a little wel-

coming statement for the South Lmm for the President. I 'i.;rrote it 

starting off with the [r~, S.] Eliot quotation about Ap'.cil. That is 

Eliot, isn't it? "April:5s the cruelest month," something like that. 

It ,.;ras a pretty good speech, 1 thought it ,.;ras a very good speech, as a 

matter of fact. And McPherson immediately cut that part of it out. He 

said, "'\fuen the President quotes T. S. Eliot, they're going to say 

':;:IcPherson or Hattenberg or who wrote it' kind of thing," which is true. 

I kind of felt that I haG U;:icd it in such a way that we could get a,.;ray 

w:Lth it, because it SpO}:e of some very timely things. In any event, we 

didn't use it, but that zi'7es you the kind of example of the kind of 

tuing that \\Te ,\.;rould ste'2r m,ay from. In a ",ay, of course, McPherson 

~\Tas right. It lent itself to some wis2 guy columnist being able to 

say, "Well, sure, Lyndon J0nnson is there reading T. S. Eliot all day 
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long." Of course, you know Eobby Kennedy played the game 

that he was deeply immersed in the Greek tragedies all the time, 

and they bought this. But they weren't buying that about Lyndon 

Johnson. So it was that kind of thing. 
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B: One other thing about the writing of speeches, how about humor? Did 

he always want humor in his speeches? 

W: This is the one thing I pr.obably had as much to do with around here 

as anyone. As I mention~d to you earlier, frequently--like over 

my dead body because it }:i.nd of got to be--people would come up to 

me in the ·hThite House st:iff and introduce me, "He's the guy ~\Tho ';\Trites 

the funny things for th(~ Pr(:sident. II You knO\\T. liRe's a gag ,\Triter) 11 

and that kind of thing, ,,,hleh ':las really the last thing I wanted to 

be. 

B: How did you fall into. that? 

W: Well, it was kind of funo; the '-lay it ';-lorked. I don't know what his 

previous use of humor had becn, but in the spring of '67 Harry 

McPherson asked 1::e to do a speech for the President for delivery to 

the Gridiron Club--I ha.d rl(~'Jer been to a Gridiron Club thing--and 

explaining the kind of ir)c::/it, that it is baSically funny and \-lith 

a sort of serious message at the end. I had very short notice on it 

and I did it. McPherson thought it was just the funniest speech 

he'd ever seen. I keep saying this was a pretty good speech, but 

I thought it was a funny speech. This was for a Saturday night 

appearance. And it didn't gat to the President mostly because of 

hmv late I had finished it. I got the assignment on Saturday 

afternoon. McPherson sent it down. I think Jake Jacobsen was there 

in the office, and McPherson sent it down saying, "Boy, this was really 
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a good speech. The Pre:; trit::nt might want to go just because his speech 

w'as so funny." He ende::cl up not going. He had really planned not to 

go, I guess. I think I hr:ard that he went over to that group--there 

was a publishers! confen:nce. or something in town also--and I think I 

heard later that in the ca.r he gave Humphrey the copy of his speech, 

saying it was a good spr,,(~ch o.nd he wasn't to go, but Humphrey might 

wp,nt to use some of this ~jtuff, which I think he ultimately did. 

This was for the Gridiron Club. 

In any event to my v.wJ'tlledge from the time that I had been there 

any\.,ay, which was from Augu~,; t of ! 66 till the spring of ! 67, I really 

can 1 t recall the PresidE:n t:. ,;aying anything funny, giving a humorous 

speech, not once. I gath'~red there \,ere a few occasions in the past 

where he had done some hwr;orous kind of stuff, but again not very 

much as far as I knoi'" 

So I. WTote a memo up c;aying--this was in the spring of '67--th:lt 

it's time that Americans had a chance to see their President in an 

other than somber mood, that this would help him and it would be good 

for the country and everything else. There were four or five occasions 

coming up. The White House press correspondents' dinner was the most 

notable, but there was a White House press photographers. In the 

spring or thereabout, there is Gridiron Club, and those two, and I 

think one other, Women's National Press Club, which called for funny 

speeches. And the President is always invited. It's sort of like 

the Al Smith Dinner in New York. And [sent up this memo] suggesting 

that he go and give a funny speech. He ,rrote back saying that the 

Gridiron Club remarks were ey-cellent and had he had them earlier, 
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he would have gone; and yes, prepare these. 

I let the first one or two slide by, and then it came up, was 

he going to go to this White House Press Correspondents Association 

dinner, \vhich is sort of a big black tie dinner. So I did him up a 

speech for that. It ,,,as on a Friday night, and I remember ,'larking 

on it Thursday night. I had done a draft myself, and then I had 

a friend of mine here in Washington named Jeff Stansbury coming in 

to give me some last minute help on it. Carol Weida, who was my 

assistant here, who had Barbara's job, stayed late that night and 

she tossed in a couple of either ideas or helped sort of work on it. 

And I didn't finish it up until late at night, aud sent it in through 

the usher's office that night to the President. 

This is another example of hm" this speech process worked. The 

standard stuff that you've got on the speech schedule would usually 

go up through Maguire, and it would go up with one of his notes 

on it saying, "This was written by Wattenberg," such-aud-such. But 

frequently you ended up doing this kind of thing that I'm describing 

now in this instance. I sent it up by myself with my own covering 

note, suggesting to him that he go to this thing even if he didn't 

want to give this speech. George Christian had mentioned I think 

to me and to a number of people that the press really had hoped that 

he would come. This was shortly after George came in, and it was 

sort of a test of whether George could deliver the President to the 

press. 

Apparently the President liked the speech and went and delivered 

it and was just great! He was absolutely--you know, it was a smash. 

I was there. Many of the White House staff people were invited. 
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I ,.;ras about as nervous as could possibly be. It's funny, but \-7hen 

you write a serious speech for the President and you're in the 

audience, you're maybe a little nervous because you knm.;r ,.;rhat it's 

going to say. But watching the President give something funny that 

you've written, it really becomes like a playwright kind of a thing. 

Because you just know the kind of reaction--if he I s going to tell 

something and he isn't going to get a laugh, that's like the worst 

thing in the world. 

So I was sitting at a table there and just before he came on--

ultimately I just got up and walked to the back of the room because 

1: was really like a caged panther or something. And he gave it, 
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and he 'vas really g'reat! This was an off-the-record speech, but 

there were subsequently a number of cormnents that ultimately did 

come out of it. There "las a line in there about Halter Lippmann, 

sort of an anti-Halter Lippmann line that the President then furthe:;:-

embellished. It was sort of a Walte:::- Lippmann line, and then the 

President ended up calling him--he just extrapolated himself--a 

famous columnist of yesterJear or something like that. And Herb 

Block wrote a big article for the Washin~ton Post, the "Outlook" 

section, about hm.;r the Administration was ganging up on poor 

Halter Lippmann and r.l2ntioned--I forget the phrase, but he said 

there was such and such occasion and then there ,.;ras the occasion 

at the Hbite House Press Correspondents' thing where the President's 

speech was so good, so humorous, and so to the point that everybody 

was wondering ,.;rho wrote it. That kind of thing, which is of course 

the worst kind of response to get in one way. And I know, all that 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



33 

evening, of course, thC! gliys on the White House staff vlho kne,v I 

had written it kept co;nln~~ up to me and saying, "Great speech, Ben, 

really great!" I was E:::tlly mum as could be. But because the White 

House guys were talking .J.[)(JUt it, I guess ultimately a couple of 

press people came up awl said, "I heard you 'vrote that speech,"

I kind of said, "Well, n-o-o-o . .. " You know, the play Has usually 

to not lie about not ha'li.ng written it, but not confess that you 

were the 'I7riter of anyth in.g-- to preserve this anonymity of the 

speech writers. 

But any-way it really Hent over very, very well. It ,vas the 

kind that was poking S0nL fun at the press. I thought it was a 

funny speech. 

So from then on the: President did a lot of humor, really a 

lot. Almost every s?C!(~sh for awhile \Vas getting a page, page and a half, 

tHo-three-four hundred ·,l~)rds of funny stuff. He has got a very good 

sense of timing. He ha3 got a very good sense of humor of his OHn. 

You know frequently he r d put humorous stuff in on his mm, just as 

he's talking, sort of by intonation or just tell a funny story or 

something like that. ;~11t he 'Ylas getting a very good response on this 

kind of stuff, because of course it ,varms up an audience to begin 

with. It reached the stage that on a series of three or four things 

in a row that he had done in the East Room, the coverage he ,.;as 

getting was on the hu:-nor and not on the substance of the bill or 

something--which was als~ all right, because you were ending up seeing 

on Huntley-Brinkley tIle Pl.·(~sident telling a joke or t,vo; and Chet 

or: David would mention that that took place because of a signing 

of the something-or-other bill. But it reached a stage where, like 
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many things the President does, when it's something that he wants 

to do, "pow! in with both feet!"

And ultimate ly there; WJ.S a ceremony signing of a retardation 

bill, I remember, that I vl:1:> bitterly opposed to. The President 

3!~ 

said, "Let's get sorne humor on the front of it." I was bitterly 

opposed to it, and it ended up somebody else--I think Maguire or 

somebody--wrote a humor uri it. I recall sending up--either I wanted 

to send up a memo saying that he ought not to use it because it really 

wasn't in keeping with the occasion. You Inow, you don't make jokes 

about--The jokes were nat about mental retardation obviously, but 

that was not the occasion to do it. I think I told either Maguire 

or McPherson--I don't know what exactly happened, but he ended up 

giving them. He got a great response on it, and nobody did say what 

I feared that they would say, that it was in bad taste to do it~ 

But it went on and (In. He was really using a lot of humor • 

And people were beginning to talk about it. There was an item 

in Newsweek or sOlliething about the President's gag writers, something--

that he had gotten some W~3t Coast comedy writer to write stuff, 

which of course was not 30. 

Then I got a call from Nanna Milligan of Newsweek saying that 

they were going to do a pir~ce about Presidential humor, how much 

humor he was using; and that she understood that I was ,vriting all 

of this humor. I said, "You want to assume that, you go ahead and 

aSSume it, but I'm not sajing that." I didn't deny it, but I attempted 

to say that the President did a lot of it on his own and that oth'er 

people did it, which vlilS tcue. It ,vasn' t the one-man thing. Ny 

feeling'VJas that it would b8 damaging to the President, and to any 
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future use of humor. If people started talking--even more so 

than '(vith speech "lriters, at least the people understand that they've 

got all these speech writers. But the idea of somebody writing 

jokes for the President Fl(:ilns that every time he's going to say 

something funny, people t,lc:re going to think "who's writing the 

joke on it.11 You see, this is the kind of idiotic bind you get 

into "lith "larking for a Pcesident. 

So I sent the memo up to the President--I showed it to George 

Christian--telling him that Norma Milligan of Newsweek had called. 

She had also called George I guess, and we'd each marc or less told 

her the same thing. But I then sent up a memo to the President 

saying that as much as I thought this humor was good, that he ought 

to continue using it, he: ought to not use it at every speech and 

every time, becaase people ~7ere then going to start talking about 

the Presidential gag writers; and then it's going to talk about 

Johnson laughing ~"hile Vietnam burns; and that while I was the 

number one proponent of humor, there really had to be some kind of 

exercise of judgment on .... 
~ L.. [I] suggested that he meet with me 

and Liz Carpenter. 

Then one day I got a call from Marvin saying that Liz Carpenter 

and I ought to provide something funny. The President ",anted her 

and me to work very closely together. After I started doing this 

kind of thing, she started--she's a Hitty woman, and \"e ,.;rould go 

over to her office and .•. Then we ultimately got a whole group, 

Liz and I and Ervin Duggan and Fred Panzer and Peter Benchley and 

Jack McNulty and a couple of guys--a guy from the State Department 

named Dave Haters and Alvin Spivak, who was a newsman and ultimately 
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was Humphrey I s press secr(;tary--and this is a good vJay to wri te 

humor, and you can do it jn about half-an-hour. Liz ,-muld have 

a bottle of scotch there; or something, and we'd have a drink in the 

late afternoon. You could come up with some pretty funny stuff 

relatively quickly. 

B: Do you ever use the Pr(;~ident as a source? He has got a reputation 

as being, in private at least, a fairly accomplished raconteur. 

'\\J: Oh, he's a great raconteur. But those are frequently stories, you 

know, which he will know hirnself and he will tell them on his own. 

The kind of stuff we were providing was something particularly 

topical, a one-liner, or a series of related ones. The thing that 

worked best was to take a topic, you know--if it was giving the 

National Freedom Medal to McNamara, you had six jokes about McNamara, 

or if it\\Ias about something else, the jokes related to it, rather 

than just stand up patter about, you know, here are six unrelated 

jokes. 

B: Was by any chance the oecasional reference to Hr. McNamara as the 

"Stacomb Kid," the proGuct of the speech ',Titers as opposed to 

Mr. Johnson? 

W: No. We would never use anything like that. That supposedly Has a 

remark Johnson made at the first Cabinet meeting when he met 

McNamara, the guy with Stacomb. 

So this thing kind of burgeoned. In any event, I suggested 

that he meet with McPherson and me and Liz and talk about the right 

role of humor and gave hin a yes-no choice at the end of this memo 

telling him he was saying too much humor. You end up even reading 

the check marks as to whether they Ire pleasant "nos, II or unpleasant 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



'. ,). ,,~., ' .. ,,', 

37 

"no"; and the feeling that I got in this one ~'las that it Has a very 

unpleasa,nt IInoll; that he: ,las kind of mud that anyone was suggesting 

that he was doing it too r~llch. and this kind of thing. And, no, he 

didn I t ~'lant to meet about 'J t.· But he definitely began to do it 

"7ith not every .speech, and not all the time. It really seemed to 

r;;.e--and George agreed with T;lE:, Christian agreed with me at this 

time--that he was going too far, and we were exposing ourselves 

to this kind of thing. Thc:reafter he used humor frequently, either 

a couple of jokes in the beginning--depending on the speech, of 

course. 

B: Hhen you prepare speeches, do you leave the President the option? 

That is, do you put hU80:::- in them in a way that he can cut it out 

if he ",ishes? 

W: Well, it normally comes at the beginning of the speech. The speech 

stands as a unit, and the huror stands as a unit. If he wants to 

use it, he uses it; if he: doesn't want to use it, he doesn't use it. 

He can cut out individual jokes, which he frequently does. Occasionally 

he has asked for them rewritten so the humor appears in the middle 

of the speech which you can do. We had some very successful sorts 

of experiences with it. I think it contributed a little bit to 

humanizing the President. It was very helpful to him, really. 

B: Do you ever get dismayed at the President's delivery, particularly 

on television? 

W: Dismayed is a very gentle Hord. The thing is that in person the guy 

is [chari5matic]. You kno''', I hesitate to use the ''lord the Hay it's 

been u3ed around, but ( . .:Iv; man's a charismatic man. He I s 

articulate, humorous--you kno''''', a great guy to listen to, a pungent 

speaker. And on television he's deadly. Hers just terrible! I 
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know,.;hen I first came 1);j(:y:' here, when I \.;ent back to Stanford and 

said, "Well, I met the l'rr;aldent. I was in some meetings ,.;ith him, 

and he's an articulate, c.;rillcated, alert, humorous [man], people 

looked at me as if I had jast come back from Mars or something. 
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- ._'... :",~,. < 

They Twouldn' t believe it, )Jccause he was really very bad on televis:;.on. 

There were periodic di3Cll'jr;ions on how could he look better, and there 

were attempts--

E: I ,.;as going to ask you if the speech writers ever offered their advice 

on ",hat amounts to sho'!! b j z. 

H: Oh, yes. 

B: But it never '\fOrked? 

H: Well, it's sort of funn; t:JC way the thing shaped up. Very frequ~~ltly 

the speeches, many speeeh ~':l that he gave. • • Let me put it this way, 

he made some wondt:;T.ful--flrst of all, ,.;hen he speaks on his m.;n even 

in front of television, iJt;'S pretty good. 

13: When he ad libs. 

W: When he ad libs. He got tr.> be a very good speech reader as \vell, 

in some instances. Somr~h(J",1 it just seemed that the really good 

speeches that he made 1170.(.':. not the ones that were on television--in 

terms of delivery. The mF:.3 that ,,,ere on television, of course he 

,.;as using that telepromptt.:r, and it ahvays looked as if he were 

playing President. He jU;jt didn't come across well. He came across 

terribly, and there were a nu;nber of suggestions as hmv this could 

be [i~provedJ. In this lint week before election, I know I sent up 

a suggestion. Humphrey b;~rJ. been on television just sitting on a 

stool talking ad lib7-djd you see that one--just to a bunch of 

students. And I sugge:lv,rl that the President do this kind of thing. 
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He evinced some interest in thts idea, but of course it came to 

nothing. 

B: There was an episode bc~for(~ that of the ne~.;rs conference in \.;rhich 

he used the throat microph'mc. 

H: The throat microphone, th;lt vlaS the one sort of breakthrough, and 

he was great in that. I rr~m(:mbcr ScaTIh"llon--this was in one of these 

periodic meetings we had, :;.nd I think I sent it up to the President 

and I think there was a g(!M.!r.al acknowledgement of that--said, 
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"This is the kind of candJtiate--" Everybody is sort of regarding 

Johnson as somebody you c::ln kick around with impunity, but "remember 

that this is the potenti;;.l that he could be campaigning with." It 

really was an ai"esome thin/~ to a number of Repuhlicans, I think, ,,,ho 

sort of thought, "Well, here was Johnson. Here ,vas an easy man to 

kick al~ound, You could call him names, you could call him hm"k and 

a baby-burner and all thc';(: vlOnderful things And he came on 

television and he looked tf:rrible." Except here was this graphic 

evidence that he really crnld deliver the goods. 

B: Does it make a difference to the man when he's l'Eking a formal speech 

on a momentous topic? D')'.:'; he very much feel that he's the leader 

of the western world going on record and hence is some';vhat 

inhibited in his delivery? 

H: I think that's probably correct. But there were a number of efforts 

to get him off the formal 'lpeech thing. They had newspapermen in 

his office on occasion. TlIC:Y had a special with him down on the ranch 

which was very good. That .."a8 before my time. But on balar..ce it 

neVer really worked very 'd~11. You know, he just never came thro:lgh, 

partly because already thr::re was a mental set that people felt. 

You know, invariably it' F} funny the way \vhen he ended up making a 
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big speech--more people carne up to me after the March 31 speech, 

which 1 had nothing to do Ylith, and said, "Boy, that was really a 

great speech!" 

40 

Why was it a great speech? It is because he told them he was 

de-escalating in Vietnam. That's why, and because he made this momen-

tous announcement, so everybody remembers it. It was a good speech, 

but there were a lot of speeches as good or better, 1 think. 1 don't 

remember that one that well. They would tell you speecn8s.were great 

when people said, "You kno}T, that's a great speech he gave," just five 

days before the election, that Thursday night speech about the bombing 

pause. That was a terr Ible speech. I thought it ,vas a terrible speech. 

1 don't even remember the words, it was so badly filmed. You know, 

they taped it here; just gave a dreadful appearance. And in fact it 

was a great speech. It said what people wanted to hear. 

13.: That I s the one that was taped in at least t'iVO segments? 

W: 1 think so, there were a lot of stories about it. But again, I had 

nothing to do ,.;ith that. But it had reached the point ,,,,here ,ve 

,.;ere talking before, as if there was sort of a selective perception. 

People sa'i'" Johnson and tuned out what they didn 't ,vant. In other 

words, on a number of instances, for example--He were talking about 

humor--the president was on television and was saying something 

funny. And people laughed. He was very good, particularly good at 

humor. He did it very 'dell and it was generally acknowledged by 

everybody. I don't think any columnist-'~"'ieJL, it occurred a couple 

of times--remarked because of this stuff that Lyndon Johnson was 

humorous or anything like that. I don't think that despite the 

fact that he vlas on television there was a single soul among 
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the 200 million Americans at that time who said, "Gee, you know, 

Lyndon Johnson's a humorous man," which we would imagine would be 

a plus, not because they had never seen him on television being 

humorous, but because they had established this set in their mind 
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of what he was. Yet Bobby Kennedy could go out and do the same kind 

Q,f h.umorous stuf£-'''-'Bnd he was pretty good at it--and everybody spoke 

about his sharp wit. They wouldn't give that to Johnson because 

that wasn't what they were expecting, and they refused to recognize 

it. 

B: It's known that some of Mr. Johnson's private story-telling gets 

kind of profane on occasion. Has there ever been any fear that if 

he started being more relaxed and informal in his public speeches 

that some of the profanity might come out? 

W: I wish that he got that relaxed in his really public speeches where 

they televise stuff; but no. You know when you think about it this 

man has a--you know, if you just followed Humphrey and Nixon and 

Romney and the kind of things that they said--this man Johnson has 

been in office for five years now; and with almost no exceptions 

in a public instance has he said anything wrong. He has got remarkable 

control. You know the ,vorst thing--with all the provocation that he 

has got on the Vietnam issue and what he thinks about it personally, 

the worst thing he has ever called his opponents in this is "nervous 

Nellies." I mean they've called him butcher, baby-burner--asked 

him how many kids he killed today, the whole thing; and he is not 

kindly disposed to them. But the worst that his rhetoric reached was 

"nervous Ne 11 ie s • " And God, ,,,e I d heard about that for six months, 

you know. Imagine, he was quashing dissent by calling people 
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"nervous Nellies." So it seems to me that he has got remarkable 

control. 

You know, Humphrey was out there on the stump for three weeks 

and he had to recant on four different things. Nixon has been 

President-elect for a ,;.;reek, and he made that statement which was 

just a jumble of words, I think about hm.;r he was going to have to 

be advised and have veto power over the Presidential decisions, 

which is not what he meant, I don't think, when it came out. But 

this has really not happened to Johnson. He's very unique in that. 

You know, you read over Kennedy's press conferences, Eisenhower's 

press conferences. They read like people talking, which is very 

hard to follow sometimes. They ramble. With Eisenhower, he was 

hard to follow even when you heard him. With Kennedy, he had good 

verbal control so you could follow him while you were listening, 

but you try to read some of this stuff and it rambles. You read 

Joh.llson's stuff, press conference answers, while he may have been 

boring on television listening to him, he talks in paragraphs. 

You know, item A, item B, item C, topic sentences. It's really 

remarkable. He's very, very good that way. 

E: I've about run out of questions. Is there anything else we ought 

to cover? 

W: No, I think I'm just about--

[End of Tape 1 of 1 and Intervielv II] 
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